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L IDENTIFY OF PETITIONERS
The Petitioners, William Love as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Camille Love and Joshua Love, a single man, seek review of the
Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of their
lawsuit against the State of Washington, due to insufficient service of
process and a resulting expiration of the statute of limitations.
II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
The Court of Appeals decision was filed on May 10, 2016. The
unpublished opinion is attached as Appendices 1 through 18.
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
A. Introduction to Issues
Long ago the Washington state's legislature adopted
RCW 4.92.020, which identifies the Attorney General and his or her
assistants as being the target for service of the Summons and Complaint in
actions brought against the State of Washington. RCW 4.92.020 provides:
Service of summons and complaint in said actions shall be served
in the manner prescribed by law upon the Attorney General, or by
leaving the summons and complaint in the office of the

Attorney General with an assistant attorney general.
(Emphasis added).’

"It is noted that use of the terms "served in the manner prescribed by law" in

RCW 4.92.020 has been previously interpreted to recognize that the state can be
successfully served in the absence of actual delivery to the Attorney General or one of his
assistants, so long as the method of service used is lawfully permitted. See St. Paul and
Tacoma Lumber Co. v. State, 57 Wn. 2d 807, 360 P.2d 142 (1961). In the St. Paul case,
the Supreme Court held that the State was properly served under a statute permitting



Very little case law exists interpreting RCW 4.92.020. The only
appellate opinion addressing service upon an assistant attorney
general ,(AAG), is the rather cursory opinion in Landreville v. Shoreline
Community College, 53 Wn. App. 330, 766 P.2d 1107 (1989), which,
(even if correctly decided), is factually distinguishable from what
transpired in this case.

In this case, it is beyond dispute that the Petitioners’ Summons and
Complaint came into possession of a statutory target of service, i.e., an
assistant attorney general. As explored below, after Petitioners’ efforts to
serve a copy of the Summons and Complaint at the Tacoma branch of the
Attorney General's Office, an AAG, Garth Ahearn came into the
possession of Petitioners’ Summons and Complaint as evidenced by the
fact he authored a detailed Answer. (Petitioners’ Complaint and the
State's Answer are attached hereto as Appendices 19 through 45).
Significantly on the face of the attached Complaint, is a “received” stamp
from "Office of the Attorney General Tacoma Service Unit" dated

March 5, 2013. (Id. P. 19).

service by publication. The St. Paul case tends to call into question Landreville’s
conclusion that strict compliance with RCW 4.92.020 is required.



On review of the defendant's Answer at Page 6 (CP 294) the
following language appears, which almost appears to be a question and not
an affirmative allegation:

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and FIRST AFFIRMATIVE

DEFENSE, defendant alleges that the summons and complaint was

the process served was insufficient [sic].?

(Appendices p. 42)

Although the trial court questioned the testimony provided by the
Petitioners’ process server, the undisputed facts below established that on
March 5, 2013 Stephen Currie, went to the Tacoma AG’s office intending
to serve the State. On arriving at the Tacoma AG’s office Mr. Currie
would have found a secured location with a small lobby area, with a glass
delivery window in what is otherwise a locked facility. (A photo of the
lobby area is attached at appendices 46.) The assistant attorney general’s
at that location work on the other side of a locked door. In other words,
even though the statute requires that service of process occur at a specific

location i.e. an office of the Attorney General, and upon a specific class of

individuals, (assistant attorney generals), physical barriers within the

? Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals found this rather incoherent language
sufficient to preserve an insufficient service of process defense, despite that under the
terms of CR 12(b)(5) and CR 12(h)(1) such a defense, if not affirmatively pled in the
Answer or raised by a CR(12) motion, is waived. Northwest Admrs., Inc. v. Roundy, 42
Whn. App. 771, 776, 713 P.2d 1127 (1986).



office location can prevent direct hand delivery of a Summons and
Complaint to an assistant attorney general.®

At the delivery window there would have been a receptionist, who
would, pursuant to established AG Office policies and procedures, take
hand delivery of the documents. Pursuant to internal policy, once the
receptionist receives the documents he should arrange delivery by calling
an AAG to the secure receptionist area. On arriving at the reception area
the AAG would pick up the documents off of a counter.* (AAG Glenn
Anderson, who testified at an evidentiary hearing, testified he usually
picks the Summons and Complaints off of the reception area counter). (RP
Vol. IV p. 156-58).

Under such a system an AAG is not personally served a Summons
and Complaint, but is subject to “second-hand service” through the
receptionist.

Here, allegedly due to the abscnce of a “service stamp”, the State
has contended that this form of receptionist (“second-hand service™) never

occurred. However, the AAG never explained how and who delivered the

3 Service upon an AAG who happens to be traveling through the small lobby location
would be dependent upon pure happenstance. As the Statute requires service at an AG’s
office, service cannot occur in the same building outside the offices physical confines, on
the street, or at an AAG’s usual place of abode.

* Allegedly a different “service stamp” is used, (other than a “received” stamp), by AAG
personnel showing “evidence” of service on an assistant attorney general,



documents to Mr. Ahearn so he could file a detailed Answer. The trial
court and the appellate court failed to recognize the absence of such
information should have resulted in a determination that the State failed to
rebut by “clear and convincing” evidence Petitioners’ prima facie case of
service.” This is presumptively because he received “second-hand
service” of the documents by a person qualified under CR 4.

Due to the secure nature of the AAG office locations, the AG’s
office has created circumstances that almost guarantee that only “second-
hand service” can occur through a “receptionist”.

It is the public policy of the State of Washington that it is both
acceptable and desirable that the State of Washington, be held accountable
in lawsuits brought by citizens. See Finch v. Matthews, 74 Wn.2d 161,
176, 443 P.2d 833 (1968). "[T]he legislature takes the view that tort
liability will have a salutary effect on the seriousness in which the state
executes its responsibility”. Yonker v. DSHS, 87 Wn. App. 71, 81 930
P.2d 958 (1997).

It is also the public policy in the State of Washington, that cases

should be decided on their merits and not procedural traps which place

’ It has been recognized that in the service of process context, that the failure to produce
relevant evidence in a parties exclusive control, without satisfactory explanation, permits
the drawing of a negative inference that the evidence would be unfavorable to the non-
producing party. See Northwick v. Long, 192 Wn. App. 256,264, 364 P. 3d 1067(2015).



form over substance. See generally, Curtis Lumber Co. v. Sortor, 83
Wn.2d 764, 766-67 522 P.2d 822 (1974).

This matter involves issues of "substantial public interest that
should be determined by the Supreme Court". See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. Issues.

1. Given the Attorney General's Office is obligated to accept
service on behalf of the State, should the Court find that "substantial
compliance" with RCW 4.92.020 is sufficient, considering that the State
has adopted policies, procedures, and security measures which serve to
impede or deny access to AAGs for service?

2. Did the Trial Court and Court of Appeals err in finding that
the plaintiff's “prima facie” case of service of process was rebutted by
"clear and convincing evidence", given the heightened nature of such a
standard, and the fact that the State failed to provide any evidence and/or
explain how an assistant attorney general was able to provide a detailed
answer to Petitioners’ Complaint without being subject to at least second-
hand service?

3. Considering the fact that the attorney general's office has
adopted policies and procedures which either intentionally, or
unintentionally, styme access to assistant attorney generals, at the

statutorily designated service location, should service of process be



deemed complete when a process server tenders a Summons and
Complaint at the AAG's office delivery window?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Trial Court Proceedings

The lawsuit arises out of the horrific and tragic events occurring on
February 7, 2010, which resulted in the death of Camille Love and the
shooting of Joshua Love by gang members, all of whom were under the
supervision of the Washington State Department of Corrections (DOC).
(CP 2-5).

On March 5, 2013, Stephen Currie traveled to various locations
within the City of Tacoma in order to serve the Summons and Complaint
which had previously been filed. (CP 55-70). (CP 180-181). Petitioners’
verified service by producing a copy of the first pages of the Summons
and Complaint which clearly depicted a "received" stamps from the
Attorney General's office, dated March 5, 2013, (CP 55-80).

On April 9, 2013 the State filed a detailed Answer to Petitioners’
Complaint signed by AAG Garth Ahearn. In the State's Answer
Mr. Ahearn painstakingly addressed each and every allegation in
plaintiff's Complaint (CP 284-297).

Despite the fact that Mr. Ahearn obviously had possession of the

Summons and Complaint when he drafted the Answer, on April 18, 2014,



the State filed a Motion for Summary Judgment coherently alleging for the
first time that Petitioners’ had failed to serve process in accordance with
RCW 4.92.020. (CP 22-29). In support of the State's position it produced
declarations from employees of Mr. Ahearn's office, which included,
among other things a log allegedly kept at the Tacoma office relating tp
receipt of Summons and Complaints at that location. (Appendices p. 47)
Petitioners’ responded to defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment
arguing both that service had occurred and/or for the application of the
doctrine waiver. (RP III P. 87).

On May 23, 2014 the trial court granted defendants' Motion for
Summary Judgment and dismissed the State with prejudice. The trial
court was apparently of the opinion that Petitioner's proof of service was
inadequate because Mr. Currie had failed to get identification from the
AAG who he contented accepted service. (RP1P. 19)° On June 2, 2014

Petitioners’ filed a Motion for Reconsideration.

§ Petitioners’ counsel is unaware of any case or statute which requires the procurement of
identification from the person served. It is Petitioners’ position that the totality of the
evidence, including the circumstantial evidence provided by the fact that defendant filed
a detailed Answer, (along with the received stamped summons and complaint), was more
than sufficient to create a "prima facie" case of sufficient service.



On June 23, 2014 the trial court heard the Motion for
Reconsideration. The trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing so it could
fully vet the service of process issue. (RP II P. 32-43).”

An evidentiary hearing occurred which spanned the afternoons of
August 7 and August 8, 2014. During the course of the hearing, three
witnesses were called (1) Martin Heyting, a clerical employee at Tacoma
Attorney General's Office, (2) Stephen Currie, the "process server" and,
(3) Glenn Anderson, an AAG from Tacoma location,(and AAG Ahearn's
supervising attorney)0. (RP III P. 57 to RP IV P. 183). Mr. Heyting
established that near the entry of the Tacoma Attorney General's Office,
there is a glass partition (with a delivery slot), separating members of the
public from the assistant attorney generals, and other staff, at the location.
The door between the public reception area and the state offices are
locked. (RP IV P. 157-58).

Although Mr. Heyting had no recollection of Mr. Currie, he
testified about internal AAG office procedures relating to receipt and/or

service of Summons and Complaints, and indicated that when someone

"1t is the fact of service that confers jurisdiction, not the return of service, or the absence
thereof. See In re Estate of Palucci, 61 Wn.App. 412,416, 810 P.2d 970 (1991) ;
Williams v. Steamship Mut. Underwriting Ass'n, 45 Wn.2d. 206, 227, 273 P.2d. 803
(1954). When a return of service contains defects or irregularities the remedy is to amend
the return. See Williams, supra. CR 4(g)(7) similarly provides that where a return of
service is other than by publication "failure to make proof of service does not affect the
validity of service." Thus there is nothing inappropriate with respect to Mr. Currie
amending his proof of service which originally was factually accurate,(but incomplete).



such as Mr. Currie presented himself at the front window, pushing a
Summons and Complaint through the delivery slot, he would only call an
AAG to the reception area if the member of the public indicated that they
were there for the purpose of serving process. (RP III P. 167-9; P. 74).
Mr. Heyting subsequently volunteered that when someone approaches the
front counter with a Summons and Complaint, he would specifically ask if
they were simply dropping off the documents or wanted to serve an AAG.
(ld. P. 81).

Although he had no specific recollection of the events, Mr.
Heyting was the individual who made the log entry which the State
asserted proved that service had not properly been performed. (/d. P. 74,
P. 80-83) (Appendices p. 47).8

Mr. Ahearn's supervisor Glenn Anderson testified that he
personally did not receive service of the Love Summons and Complaint
but did admit that it was his determination to assign the case to Mr.
Ahearn for defense. (Id. P.93). Given the fact that Mr. Anderson assigned
Mr. Ahearn the responsibility of defending the case, one could assume that

he actually reviewed the Summons and Complaint prior to making such a

® It is respectfully suggested that it would seem to be "implausible" that Mr. Currie, who
on the same date successfully served the City of Tacoma, would have answered "no" to
the question of whether or not he was presenting himself at the Attorney General's Office
for the purpose of serving a Summons and Complaint. This is particularly so given that
the sole purpose for this visit would be to accomplish that task.

10



determination. (RP III P. 102). Mr. Anderson also testified that when he
accepts service of a Summons and Complaint, he is called to the reception
area by a clerical employee and actually picks the documents up off the
counter, and never is personally handed the documents by a process server
(RP p. 157).

Mr. Currie testified that based on the "photo montage" of Tacoma
AAG personnel, he identified Mr. Anderson as being the individual who
the receptionist called to receive service of the Summons and Complaint.
Mr. Anderson denied the accuracy of Mr. Currie's representation.

Despite the fact that an AAG obviously had been delivered a copy
of the Summons and Complaint, (by some unexplained agency), the trial
court denied reconsideration and never required Mr. Ahearn to disclose
how he received a copy of the Summons and Complaint.

On September 26, 2014 plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal.
B. The Court of Appeals Decision

On May 10, 2016 the Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion,
affirmed the trial court dismissal of Petitioners’ Complaint. As stated at
appendix Page 2, the reason the appellate court upheld the dismissal was,
despite the fact that Petitioners’ had established a prima facie case of
proper service, the State had shown by clear and convincing evidence that

service was improper. (/d. P. 10). In reaching such a conclusion, the

11



appellate court did not address the compelling facts that a copy of the
Summons of Complaint was obviously delivered to the attorney general's
office on March 5, 2013, and that Mr. Ahearn must have received a copy
of the Summons and Complaint through some agency in order to craft his
detailed Answer.

The Court of Appeals also rejected Petitioners’ argument that the
State was estopped and/or had waived an insufficient service of process
defense.

Petitioners, strongly believing that the decisions of the appellate
court, and the trial court were wrong, seek review by the Washington
Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Given that the Policies, Procedures, and Security

Measures of the State of Washington Serve to Impede
and/or Preclude Physical Delivery of a Summons and
Complaint to an AAG, Should it be Found That
Petitioners’ Substantially Complied with Their Service
of Process Obligations.

Ignored by the trial court, and the court of appeals, is the fact that
under either party's version of the events, sufficient service of process
occurred in this case. Either service of process was perfected by

Mr. Currie through hand delivery of the Summons and Complaint to an

AAG, or through the State’s adoption of policies and procedures which

12



provide an implicit agreement that service upon an AAG can occur
through another. In other words, under the State's own policies and
procedures "second-hand" service is the norm and the prima facie
evidence established that through some agency or individual, Mr. Ahearn
received a copy of the Summons and Complaint prior to filing a detailed
Answer.

It has long been the law of the State of Washington that substantial
compliance with service requirements is sufficient when a defendant has
clearly authorized service upon another, or when it has agreed to indirect
service, even if a statute otherwise requires strict compliance. See, e.g.,
Lee v. Barnes, S8 Wn.2d 265, 267, 362 P.2d 237 (1961) (recognizing
service is effective and sufficient when a person appointed by the
defendant accepts service, even though the applicable statute did not
appear to allow for service on that individual), Thayer v. Edmonds, 8 Wn.
App. 36,41-42,503 P.2d 1110 (1972), rev. denied, 82 Wn.2d 1001 (1973)
(service sufficient where defendant indicated that documents could be left
at the door). As recognized in Lee v. Barnes, supra, "public policy,
therefore, would not forbid defendants to appointment an agent to accept
service ... in their behalf nor does it after service forbid them in person to

acknowledge receipt of it ...."

13



By erecting physical barriers which prevents a process server from
physically serving an AAG at the statutorily designated location, (absent a
lobby ambush), the State has implicitly agreed that service upon its
clerical/receptionist employees is acceptable and sufficient.

Indeed, by operation of its own policies and procedures it appears
that the AG’s office would find this to be the preferred and safest
methodology for service. As indicated, there is nothing within the public
policy of the State of Washington which would prevent the AG’s Office
from acquiescing, adopting or agreeing to statutorily noncompliant
service. Further, “second-hand service”, apparently preferred by the
Attorney General's Office is a valid method of service under the laws of
the State of Washington. See Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336
P.3rd 1155 (2014); Brown-Edwards v. Powell, 144 Wn. App. 109, 111,
182 P.3d 441 (2008). As explained in Scanlan, under the terms of CR 4(c)
any person over the age of 18 years of age, who was testimonially
compliant and not a party, may serve process. As reiterated in Scanlan,
CR 4(c) means "any person means any person." /d.

Clearly service through a receptionist, or other employees of the
State of Washington, upon an AAG can be valid service. Second hand, or
agreed alternative service, is permitted under the terms of RCW 4.92.020

because it allows for an AAG to be "served in the manner prescribed by

14



law". See, St. Paul & Tacoma Lumber Co v. State, 57 Wn.2d 807, 360
P.2d 142 (1961).

Here, it cannot be disputed, that whether it was through the
auspices of the receptionist, or some other attorney general employee, the
Petitioners’ Summons and Complaint found its way to the hands of Mr.
Ahearn who drafted a detailed Answer. It would seem highly improbable,
if not implausible, that the person who actually delivered the Summons
and Complaint to Mr. Ahearn would not be an appropriate person to serve
process under CR 4(c). Even before Mr. Ahearn received the Complaint,
it had to have found its way into hands of his supervisors who made the
determination to assign the case to Mr. Ahearn.

Given such undisputable facts, the record below clearly established
a prima facie case of proper service that was not rebutted by the defense
by "clear and convincing evidence".

B. The Trial court and Court of Appeals Erred in Finding
that Petitioners’ Prima Facie Case of Proper Service
was Rebutted by Clear and Convincing Evidence.

It is well established that when a defendant challenges service of
process the plaintiff has the initial burden of proof to establish a prima
facie case of proper service. A plaintiff can establish a prima facie case
by providing a declaration of a process server. Then the challenging party

must show by clear and convincing evidence that service was improper.

15



See Northwick v. Long, 192 Wn. App. 256, 264, 364 P.3d 1067 (2015). A
"prima facie” case of service cannot only be established by testimony

provided by the plaintiffs, but also the defendant's "admission is the best
possible evidence...” See Scanian v. Townsend 181 Wn.2d at 856, citing
Hamill v. Brooks, 32 Wn. App. 150, 151-52, 649 P.2d 151 (1982).

In this case, neither the Court of Appeals nor the Trial Court
properly credited the essential admissions by the defense when
determining Petitioners’ prima facie case had been rebutted by "clear and
convincing evidence". By defendant's own "admission", (actions), of
filing a detailed Answer, along with other proof the Petitioners’ presented,
a prima facie case of service was not subject to rebuttal by "clear and
convincing evidence". The absence of any explanation by the State as to
how Mr. Ahearn came into possession of Petitioners’ Summons and
Complaint undermined any notion that the defense provided "clear and
convincing evidence" of improper service. Again, it is reiterated that
when a party fails to produce relevant evidence within its control, without
satisfactory explanation, a trial court is permitted to draw the inference
that the evidence would be unfavorable to non-producing party. See,
Northwick v. Long, 192 Wn. App. at 264. Had Mr. Ahearn not received

delivery of the Summons and Complaint by a person qualified under CR

16



4(c), he certainly would have said so during the many proceedings in this
case relating to service of process.

A party trying to establish insufficiency of process does not present
“clear and convincing” evidence of deficiency simply by submitting
testimony which conflicts with that of the process server. See, Leen v.
Deomopolis, 62 Wn. App. 743, 478, 815 P.2d 269 (1991). (The Court
found that although a defendant challenged the process server's statement
that he personally served the defendant, because the plaintiff submitted
evidence corroborating service, the defense failed to present “clear and
convincing evidence” of lack of service). See also, Woodruff'v. Spence,

76 Wn. App. 207, 883 P.2d 936 (1994).

In this case, even assuming, that Mr. Currie's Declarations of
Service, and testimony related thereto, were subject to credibility
challenges, the undisputed facts, inclusive of the admissions by the
defense, precludes a finding of "clear and convincing evidence" of
improper service.

C. Service Should Have Been Deemed Complete at the

Point Where Mr, Currie Tendered the Summons and
Complaint at the Delivery Window.

° This question was left unanswered during the course of appellate oral argument.

17



While a party has no obligation to aid in service of process upon
themselves, they do have a duty to accept service when tendered, and not
to evade service. See Thayer v. Edmonds 8 Wn. App. at, 41-42.

The case of Stevens v. City of Centralia, 86 Wn. App. 135, 936
P.2d 1141 (1997) is eerily similar, In Stevens the plaintiff, attempting to
file a statutory claim for damages, went to the city clerk's office and told
the clerk he wished to file a claim. The clerk refused to accept the claim
because it was not on a preprinted form provided by the City. After
consulting with his attorney, the next day he returned to the clerk's office
and insisted that a claim for damage be filed "as is", but it was too late.
After the suit was filed the City moved to dismiss Stevens' case because he
had failed to timely file an administrative claim with the City. The trial
court agreed and dismissed the case.

On appeal in Stevens the Court took a dim view of the City's action
and found that although it did not find the claim was "constructively
filed,” it was constructively accepted at the point Mr. Stevens "tendered" it
to the city clerk's office for filing. Id at 152. The Court reasoned to hold
otherwise would be inequitable. /d.

Similarly, given the fact that the Attorney General's Office has
erected physical barriers at the statutory service location, Petitioners’

Summons and Complaint should have been deemed served at the point it
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was tendered to the receptionist whom, as a matter of internal policy, is to
initially receive such documentation.

From that point on, neither Petitioners’, nor their process server,
had any ability to control whether or not the AG's preferred "second-hand"
service actually occurs. There is nothing within the common law, nor any
statute, which would suggests that a defendant can condition the propriety
of service of process on either a process server making the right statement
"I'm here to serve a lawsuit", or on a clerical employee remembering to
ask — "are you here to serve".

It is respectively suggested that under such circumstances, as a
matter of equity and public policy, and to balance the Attorney General's
Office's security concerns with its obligation to accept service of process,
that service under the circumstances of this case should have been deemed
completed at the moment the paperwork was tendered to clerical staff.

V1. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should accept review of this case. It is the
public policy of the State of Washington that the State be held accountable
in tort under appropriate circumstances. Such public policies should also

animate considerations of how the State is served process.
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For the reasons stated above, it is humbly and respectively
submitted that this case involves issues of important public interest and

review should be granted by thg Supreme Court.

Dated thigg ’3 day of June, 2016.

LU simd

Paul A. Lindenmuth — WSBA #15817
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

WILLIAM LOVE, as Personal Representative No. 46798-4-1}
of the ESTATE OF CAMILLE LOVE, and
JOSHUA LOVE, a single man,

Appellants,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT UNPUBLISHED OPINION
OF CORRECTIONS, a governmental entity,
CITY OF TACOMA, a municipal corporation
and DOES 1-10 INCLUSIVE,

Respondents.

Maxa, J.— William Love and Joshua Love (collectively Love) appeal the trial court’s
summary judgment dismissal of their lawsuit against the State Department of Corrections (State)
based on insufficient service of process and the expiration of the statute of limitations. Love
delivered the summons and complaint to the Tacoma attorney general’s office and it was
stamped as received. However, the State asserted that service was insufficient because Love did
not actually serve the summons and complaint on an assistant attorney general (AAG) as
required under RCW 4.92.020.

Love initially argued that he had served a secretary at the attorney general’s office, and
the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the State because no AAG had been served.
Love filed a motion for reconsideration, and the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the

service issue. Love offered testimony that the receptionist at the attorney general’s office had
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presented a person who appeared to be an AAG to accept scrvice, but the trial court found that
the testimony was not credible. The trial court concluded that the State had presented clear and
convincing evidence that service was insufficient and therefore denied reconsideration.

We hold that summary judgment was appropriate because (1) substantial evidence
presented at the evidentiary hearing supported the trial court’s conclusion that the State presented
clear and convincing evidence of insufficient service; (2) the State was not estopped from
asserting insufficient service because the trial court did not believe Love’s evidence that the
receptionist at the attorney general’s office purported to present the proper person for service,
and (3) the State did not waive its affirmative defense by waiting a year before moving for
summary judgment on insufficient service.'

Accordingly, we affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of the State.

FACTS

According to Love’s complaint, on February 7, 2010 gang members who were under the
supervision of the State shot and killed Camille Love and shot and injured Joshua Love. On
February 7, 2013, William Love (as personal representative of Camille’s estate) and Joshua Love
filed a lawsuit against the State and the city of Tacoma? for various causes of action including

negligence and wrongful death.

' On appeal, Love also argues that (1) an AAG was properly served by secondhand service, (2)
the doctrine of constructive service applies, (3) the State waived the statute of limitations
affirmative defense by failing to affirmatively plead it, and (4) the statute of limitations did not
run because it was tolled when Love served the city of Tacoma, another defendant. However,
Love did not make these arguments in the trial court. Therefore, we decline to consider them for
the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); Martin v. Johnson, 141 Wn. App. 611,623, 170 P.3d 1198
(2007).

2 The trial court dismissed Love’s claims against Tacoma on March 29, 2013.
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Service of Complaint

On March §, Stephen Currie delivered a copy of the summons and complaint to the
Tacoma attorney general’s office. In a declaration of service prepared on March 6, Currie stated
that he served a “receptionist, a tall Caucasian male.” Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 184. In a later
declaration signed on May 6, 2014, Currie stated:

I approached the receptionist desk and asked who accepted service in their office.

The receptionist left and returned with a tall Caucasian male who agreed to accept

service on behalf of the Attorney General’s office. The male who agreed to accept

service was dressed in a suit and tie and he was wearing a badge, therefore |
assumed he was the appropriate person to accept service.

CPat118.
In April 2013, the State filed its answer to Love’s complaint, in which it asserted
insufficient service in its list of affirmative defenses.
Extent of Litigation
During oral argument on summary judgment, Love represented to the court that the
parties had engaged in litigation, stating:
We’ve had a couple of motions that have been heard by the Court, the motion to
continue the trial date, as well as the motion to depose the defendants in the
Department of Corrections. . . . We’ve had numerous requests for interrogatories
and requests for production, and we’ve also engaged in depositions.
Report of Proceedings (RP) at 13. The State noted that it did not bring any motions prior to its
motion for summary judgment. However, nothing in the appellate record provides information

about what discovery or other litigation activities had occurred before the State filed its summary

Jjudgment motion.
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Summary Judgment Motion

In April 2014, a year after it filed an answer, the State filed a summary judgment motion
seeking dismissal of Love’s lawsuit based on insufficient service and expiration of the statute of
limitations. The State argued that Love did not serve the summons and complaint on an AAG as
required under RCW 4.92.020.

Love’s response in opposition to summary judgment argued that service was proper
under RCW 4.28.080(9), which allows service on a company or corporation by delivering the
summons to a secretary. Love argued, “In this action the summons and complaint werc served
upon the secretary at the attorney general’s office.” CP at 113. Love also argued that the State
had waived its insufficient service affirmative defense by engaging in discovery on the merits.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the State and dismissed Love’s
claims with prejudice.

Motion for Reconsideration/Evidentiary Hearing

Love filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing for the first time that an AAG was
properly served as required by RCW 4.92.020. Love requested an evidentiary hearing to
determine whether Currie had served an AAG. The trial court granted Love’s request.

At the evidentiary hearing, Currie testified that his initial declaration of service from
March 6, 2013 that said he served a male receptionist was incorrect. Currie testified that what
really happened was that he told a female receptionist he had a summons and complaint to serve
on “the appropriate party who will accept service on behalf of the Attorney General’s Office.”

RP at 109. The receptionist left and brought an AAG from the back to accept service.
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Currie described the AAG as a tall Caucasian male in a suit and tie. He said the AAG
came from behind the glass window into the lobby area. And Currie claimed that he observed
the AAG personally stamp the summons and complaint. Currie did not ask the AAG to identify
himself. But based on photos provided by the attorney general’s office, Currie identified the
AAG he served as Glen Anderson.

Anderson testified that he was not wearing a suit and tie on March 5 because there was a
quarterly meeting that day and he would not have worn a suit to the meeting, but would have
worn slacks or khakis and a dress shirt. In response to Currie’s statement in his second
declaration that the person he served was wearing a badge, Anderson also testified that he never
wears a badge or ID around his neck. The State submitted a staff photograph taken on March 5
that pictured Anderson wearing a light blue collared shirt without a jacket or tie and without a
badge. Anderson also explained his procedure for accepting service and noted that he receives
the paperwork and fills out the acknowledgment stamp at the counter behind a glass partition in
the reception area.

Martin Heyting, a receptionist at the Tacoma attorney general’s office, also testified at
the evidentiary hearing. Heyting explained that there was an office protocol for accepting
service. He said that he would ask a person to clarify if he was dropping off papers or serving
the office. If someone came to the front desk to serve the attorney general’s office, then Heyting
would summon an AAG.

According to Heyting, if an AAG accepted service the summons and complaint would be
stamped with a special “acknowledgment of receipt” stamp that had a spot for the AAG to sign

to show who accepted service. RP at 86. In addition, the receptionist maintained a log to note
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information about the case and which AAG accepted service. Heyting testified that the log page
from March § indicated that the Love summons and complaint was received but not served. The
log entry was in Heyting’s handwriting.

The Love summons and complaint was stamped as received by the Tacoma attorney
general’s office and dated March 5, 2013, but it did not bear the “acknowledgment of receipt”
stamp or an AAG signature.

After the evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied Love’s motion for reconsideration.
The trial court also entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law with regard to the
evidentiary hearing. After reciting the evidence presented at the hearing, the trial court made the
following finding of fact: “In light of all the evidence in the record, the Court finds that service
was never completed by properly serving an AAG.” CP at 230.

The trial court’s conclusions of law included:

1. The plaintiffs failed to establish a prima facie case establishing they properly

served the State.

2. The totality of the record establishes by clear cogent and convincing evidence

the plaintiffs did not perfect service against the State by serving an AAG at any

time.

4. The plaintiffs did not serve Mr. Anderson or any other AAG the summons and
complaint.

CP at 230. The trial court also entered conclusions of law that the State was not estopped from
raising the insufficiency of service defense and had not waived the defense. CP at 230.

Love appeals the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of the State.
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ANALYSIS
A, STANDARD OF REVIEW

We review a trial court’s order granting summary judgment de novo. Keck v. Collins,
184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). We review the evidence and all reasonable
inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. /d. Summary
judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 370.

Although it may require factual considerations, the sufficiency of service of process is a
question of law reserved to the trial court. Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 Wn. App. 311, 327, 261
P.3d 671 (2011). We review de novo whether service of process was sufficient. Scanlan v.
Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 847, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014).

However, an evidentiary hearing may be required when affidavits regarding service
present an issue of fact. Harvey, 163 Wn. App. at 327. We review a trial court’s findings of fact
and conclusions of law after such an evidentiary hearing to determine whether substantial
evidence supports the findings of fact and whether the findings support the conclusions of law.
Id at318.

B. SERVICE OF PROCESS UNDER RCW 4.92.020

Proper service of the summons and complaint is required to invoke personal jurisdiction.
Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d at 847. Actual notice is not a substitute for proper service. Ralph's
Concrete Pumping, Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, Inc., 154 Wn. App. 581, 585,225 P.3d

1035 (2010). When a defendant challenges service of process, the plaintiff has the initial burden
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of proof to establish a prima facie case of proper service. Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d at 847. The
defendant then must show by clear and convincing evidence that service was improper. /d.

Chapter 4.92 RCW governs the process for bringing actions and claims against the State.
RCW 4.92.020 is the applicable service statute: “Service of summons and complaint in such
actions shall be served in the manner prescribed by law upon the attorney general, or by leaving
the summons and complaint in the office of the attorney general with an assistant attorney
general.” (Emphasis added.)

When the lcgislature names a specific person to receive service, serving anyone other
than the named person amounts to insufficient service. See Nitardy v. Snohomish County, 105
Wn.2d 133, 134-35, 712 P.2d 296 (1986) (holding that service on the secretary to the county
executive is insufficient when the service statute specifically named the county auditor as the
person to receive service in actions against the county); Davidheiser v. Pierce County, 92 Wn.
App. 146, 150-56, 960 P.2d 998 (1998) (holding that even when the risk management office
represented that it could accept service, service on that office was insufficient when the service
statute required service on the county auditor or deputy auditor); Meadowdale Neigh. Comm. v.
City of Edmonds, 27 Wn. App. 261, 262, 267, 616 P.2d 1257 (1980) (holding that service on the
secretary to the mayor was insufficient when the service statute required service on the mayor).

Accordingly, “[blccause RCW 4.92.020 specifies that service can only be made upon the
Attorney General or left with an Assistant Attorney General, leaving the summons and complaint
with the administrative assistant [is] not sufficient” to constitute proper service. Landreville v.

Shoreline Cmty. Coll., 53 Wn. App. 330, 332, 766 P.2d 1107 (1988). And in light of the clcar
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language in RCW 4.92.020, it is unreasonable to rely on representations that service may be
accepted by anyone other than the Attorney General or an AAG. 1d.
C. SUFFICIENCY OF SERVICE ON AAG

Love argues that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the State
because Love met his burden to show proper service and the State failed to show by clear and
convincing evidence that service was insufficient. We disagree.

1. Prima Facie Case of Proper Service

To make a prima facie case of proper service, the plaintiff may produce an affidavit of
service that on its face shows that service was properly carried out. Witt v. Port of Olympia, 126
Wn. App. 752, 757, 109 P.3d 489 (2005). Or the plaintiff can establish proof of service by the
written acceptance or admission of the defendant, his agent, or his attorney. Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d
at 848,

But when a statute requires that a particular person be served, the affidavit of service
must be sufficient to show that the specified person was served. Witt, 126 Wn. App. at 757-58.
In Witt, the plaintiff was required to follow the direction of RCW 4.28.080(9) and deliver a copy
of the summons and complaint to the *“president or other head of the company or corporation, the
registered agent, secretary, cashier or managing agent thereof or to the secretary, stenographer or
office assistant™ of those persons. Witt, 126 Wn. App. at 757 (quoting RCW 4.28.080(9)). The
process server’s affidavit of service merely stated that summons and complaint were signed by
* ‘the clerk at the Port Ofﬁce.’ ? Id. at 758. The “clerk” was in fact a 17-year-old student intern.

Id. at 755.
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This court held that the plaintiff in Wit failed to make a prima facie case because she
only showed evidence of service on a “clerk,” rather than any of the named positions listed in
RCW 4.28.080(9). Id. at 758. Further, even if the “clerk” was understood to be the equivalent of
an “office assistant,” the plaintiff gave no proof that the person served was the assistant to one of
the persons named in the service statute. /d.

Here, in his initial opposition to summary judgment Love similarly failed to make a
prima facie case. Love presented two declarations from Cutrie and the stamped summons and
complaint to show proper service. However, taken together and even viewed in the light most
favorable to Love, there was no evidence that Currie served an AAG as required. Currie’s
March 6, 2013 declaration of service stated he served “the receptionist, a tall Caucasian male.”
CP at 184. And his May 6, 2014 declaration stated he served “a tall Caucasian male who agreed
to accept service on behalf of the Attorney General’s office.” CP at 118. Neither declaration
shows that Currie served an AAG and Love initially did not even argue that he served an AAG.
Accordingly, the trial court did not err in initially granting summary judgment in favor of the
State.

On reconsideration, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on whether Love had
properly served an AAG. Currie testified that the declarations were incorrect and that he did in
fact serve an AAG. He also identified Anderson as the person he served.

This testimony presented a prima facie case of proper service. A process server’s swotn

testimony that he served an AAG generally should be enough to establish a prima facie case,
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even if that testimony is contradicted by other testimony and evidence.> Whether service
actually occurred relates to the defendant’s burden to show by clear and convincing evidence
that service was improper. Scanlan, 181 Wn.2d at 847.

2. Clear and Convincing Evidence Showing Insufficient Service

Even though Love established a prima facie case showing proper service, the State
presented clear and convincing evidence showing that service was insufficient. At the
evidentiary hearing, the State presented strong evidence that Currie did not serve an AAG.
Heyting and Anderson explained in detail the attorney general’s office’s service procedures and
stated that an AAG would have signed the summons and complaint if actually served. No AAG
signed Love’s summons and complaint. And Anderson testified that he was not dressed in the
way Currie described and was not wearing a badge as Currie claimed on the date of service.

The trial court made an express finding of fact that service was not completed on an
AAG, and Love docs not argue that substantial evidence did not support this finding. Further,
the trial court made an express conclusion of law that “[t]he totality of the record establishes by
clear cogent and convincing evidence the plaintiffs did not perfect service against the State by
serving an AAG at any time.” CP at 230. Love does not argue that the findings of fact do not
support this conclusion of faw. And the testimony of Heyting and Anderson at the evidentiary

hearing strongly supported both the factual finding and the conclusion of law.

3 The trial court made an express conclusion of law that Love failed to present a prima facie case
that he properly served the State. However, the record does not support this conclusion.

I
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We hold that the trial court did not err in concluding that the State presented clear and
convincing evidence that Love did not serve the summons and complaint on an AAG.
Accordingly, we hold that service of process was insufficient under RCW 4.92.020.

D. INSUFFICIENT SERVICE DEFENSE — EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL,

Love argues that the State should be equitably estopped from asserting an insufficient
service defense because Currie testified that he told the receptionist that he needed to serve an
appropriate party and the receptionist presented a person who appeared to be an AAG.* We
disagree.

Equitable estoppel requires (1) an admission, statement or act inconsistent with a claim
afterwards asserted, (2) action by another in reasonable reliance upon that act, statement, or
admission, and (3) injury to the relying party from allowing the first party to contradict or
repudiate the prior act, statement or admission. Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 35, |
P.3d 1124 (2000). The party asserting estoppel must show each element by clear, cogent and
convincing evidence. Id.

Here, Currie testified that he told a female receptionist that he had a summons and
complaint to serve on “the appropriate party who will accept service on behalf of the Attorney
General’s Office.” RP at 109. According to Currie, the receptionist left and brought a person
from the back to accept service. Love essentially claims that through this action the receptionist

represented that the person presented to accept service was an AAG.

* The record does not reflect that Love argued estoppel in the trial court. However, the trial court
entered an express conclusion of law that the State was not estopped from raising insufficiency
of service. Therefore, we address this issue.

12
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We need not decide whether estoppel would apply in the situation described in Currie’s
testimony — a receptionist producing a person represented to be appropriate to accept service —
because the trial court found that Currie’s testimony was not credible.> In other words, the trial
court found after weighing the evidence that Currie’s claimed interaction with the receptionist
and service on the person the receptionist produced did not occur.

After the evidentiary hearing, the trial court summarized the evidence that was
inconsistent with Currie’s testimony, including (1) Currie’s original declaration where he stated
that he served the receptionist rather than an AAG, (2) the attorney general’s office log showing
that the summons and complaint were delivered but not served on an AAG, (3) the absence in
Currie’s second declaration of the details he provided at the hearing, and (4) Love’s initial
argument in opposition to summary judgment that service on a receptionist or secretary was good
service. The trial court concluded, “[N]o, I have not found the evidence that I heard today was
credible” and stated that Currie’s current testimony “makes no sense” in the context of the other
evidence. RP at 180.

We defer to the trial court’s credibility determinations and weighing of the evidence after
an evidentiary hearing. Dave Johnson Ins., Inc. v. Wright, 167 Wn. App. 758, 778,275 P.3d 339
(2012). Because the trial court found that Currie’s testimony was not credible, Love cannot
show by clear, cogent and convincing evidence that he relied on an act that was inconsistent with

the State’s assertion of an insufficient service defense. Accordingly, we hold that the State is not

5 Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 35-37, and Landreville, 53 Wn. App. at 331-32, suggest that when a
special service statute clearly names a specific target of service, a plaintiff may have difficulty
establishing the reasonable reliance requirement for estoppel.

13
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equitably estopped from asserting an insufficient service defense and that the trial court did not
err in granting summary judgment in favor of the State on this issue.
E. WAIVER OF INSUFFICIENT SERVICE DEFENSE

Love argues that the State waived its insufficient service defense because it engaged in
discovery on other issues and filed its summary judgment motion a year after filing its answer.
We disagree.

1. Legal Principles

In certain circumstances, a defendant may waive as a matter of law an affirmative
defense, including insufficient service of process. Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 38-39. The doctrine of
waiver is designed to foster and promote the just, speedy and inexpensive resolution of actions
by preventing litigants from acting in an inconsistent fashion and employing delaying tactics. Id.
at 39. It also is designed to “prevent a defendant from ambushing a plaintiff during litigation
either through delay in asserting a defense or misdirecting the plaintiff away from a defense for
tactical advantage.” King v. Snohomish County, 146 Wn.2d 420, 424, 47 P.3d 536 (2002).

Waiver of an affirmative defense can occur in two ways: (1) if the defendant is dilatory
in asserting the defense or (2) if assertion of the defense is inconsistent with the defendant’s
previous behavior. Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 39. Regarding the first type of waiver, a defendant is
not dilatory in asserting the defense if it is first asserted in a timely filed answer. King, 146
Wn.2d at 424,

Regarding the second type of waiver, cascs addressing inconsistent behavior fall into two
categories: inconsistent behavior before filing an answer and inconsistent behavior after filing an

answer. In Lybbert, the parties exchanged interrogatories regarding substantive issues and

14
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engaged in other litigation activities for nine months before the defendant asserted an insufficient
process defense in its answer. 141 Wn.2d at 32-33. In addition, the defendant did not answer
interrogatories designed to ascertain whether the defendant was asserting an insufficient process
defense. Id at 42. Finally, the defendant waited until after the statute of limitations had run
before asserting the defense. Id.

The Supreme Court held that the defendant’s conduct was inconsistent with its assertion
of an insufficient process defense and therefore that waiver applied. Id. at 44-45. The court
stated that it was unacceptable for a defendant to “lie in wait, engage in discovery unrelated to
the defense, and thereafter assert the defense after the clock has run on the plaintiff’s cause of
action.” Id. at 45.

Similarly, in Butler v. Joy, the defendant filed a summary judgment motion (not on the
basis of insufficient service) and engaged in depositions (unrelated to service) before filing an
answer asserting an insufficient service defense. 116 Wn. App. 291,294, 65 P.3d 671 (2003).
The defendant’s answer came six months after receiving the complaint and three months after the
statute of limitations had run. /d. The court held that the defendant waived the insufficient
service defense by engaging in inconsistent actions before asserting the defense. Id. at 298; see
also Blakenship v. Kaldor, 114 Wn. App. 312, 315, 319-20, 57 P.3d 295 (2002) (finding waiver
when the defendant propounded interrogatories and deposed the plaintiff before filing an answer
over a year after suit was filed asserting an insufficient service defense).

On the other hand, in French v. Gabriel the Supreme Court held that the defendant did
not waive the insufficient service defense by taking a deposition addressing other litigation

matters after stating the defense in his answer. 116 Wn.2d 584, 594, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991).

15
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The court stated that “once [the defendant] properly preserved his defense by pleading it in his
answer, he is not precluded from asserting it by proceeding with discovery.” Id.

In King, the Supreme Court noted that timely filing an answer raising an affirmative
defense does not preserve the defense in perpetuity. 146 Wn.2d at 426. In that case, the court
held that the defendant waived the insufficient claim filing defense through inconsistent actions
taken afler filing his answer by litigating the case on other grounds for four years, including
extensive discovery, 18 depositions, a summary judgment motion (not on the basis of improper
claim filing), four continuances at the defendant’s request, and mediation, and only seeking
dismissal on the basis of insufficient claim filing three days before trial. Id. at 423, 425.

2. Inapplicability of Waiver

Here, the State did not waive its defense through dilatory conduct because it asserted an
insufficient service defense in its answer, which was filed a month after receiving the complaint.
And Love does not argue that the State engaged in inconsistent bchavior before filing the answer.
Thercfore, Lybbert, Butler, and Blakenship are inapplicable. The question is whether the State
engaged in any inconsistent conduct after filing its answer that would support a finding of
waiver.

Several factors are significant here. First, the State did not “lie in wait . . . and thereafter
assert the defense after the clock has run on the plaintiff's cause of actiop.” Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d
at45. The State asserted the insufticient process defense in its answer on April 9,2013. The
statute of limitations did not expire until May 8, which gave Love 29 days to properly serve the

State.
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Second, there is no evidence that the State engaged in any conduct that would have
prevented Love from discovering the basis for the insufficient process defense asserted in its
answer. Love does not contend that the State avoided answering interrogatories directed at the
defense,

Third, Love claims that the parties engaged in discovery and other litigation activities for
a year before the State filed its summary judgment motion, but the record does not indicate what
took place during that year. There certainly is no claim that the State engaged in the type of
extensive discovery that occurred in King. The court in French held that merely taking a
deposition and engaging in other litigation activities did not give rise to a waiver when the
defendants asscrted an insufficient service defensc in a timely answer. 116 Wn.2d at 594.

Fourth, the State gained no advantage from delaying the filing of its summary judgment
motion for a year. The statute of limitations expired on May 8, 2013. Therefore, the result
would have been the same if the State had filed its motion on May 9, 2013 instead of in April
2014.

Fifth, Love has cited no authority for the proposition that mere delay for a year in filing a
summary judgment motion — in the absence of any other factors — is sufficient to waive an
insufficient process defense when the defense is included in a timely filed answer. In French,
the Supreme Court found no waiver when the defendant waited over a year after asserting
insufficiency of service before moving to dismiss the case, even when the parties engaged in

some litigation activities. 116 Wn.2d at 587-88, 594.
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Given these factors, we hold that the State did not waive its insufficient service defense.
Accordingly, we hold that the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of
the State on this issue.

F. EVIDENTIARY HEARING FINDINGS OF FACT

Love assigns error to a number of findings of fact resulting from the evidentiary hearing,
but fails to argue that the findings are not supported by substantial evidence or that they do not
support the trial court’s conclusions of law.

We generally consider an assignment of error waived when a party fails to provide an
argument explaining the basis of the error. Smith v. King, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451-52, 722 P.2d 796
(1986). Because Love never discusscs the assignments of error regarding the trial court’s
findings of fact, we decline to address them.

We affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of the State.

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW

MAXA, J.; ) *

2.06.040, it is so ordered.

We concur:

AuHm How, {

SUTTON, J.
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OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY aBERA
TACOMA CENERAL SERVILES UNIT
SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON
COUNTY OF PIERCE
WILLIAM LOVE, as Personal ' '
Representative of the ESTATE OF
CAMILLE LOVE and JOSHUA LOVE a NO.
singleman, = - -
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
Phaintffs,
V8.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT
OF CORRECTIONS, a govemmental

corporation and DOES 1-10 INCLUSIVE,

Defendants.

COME NOW the Plaintiffs William Love, as Personal Repressmtative of the Estats of
Camille Love, (the Estato) and Joshua Love (Love), against the sbove-named Defendants, and

state and alleges in this Complaint es follows;
COMPLAINT ' Vicly J. Curds -
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I INTRODUCTION

1.1 This lawsut erises from the muder of Camille A. Love and (bo assault and shooting of
| tho pleinttf Josus Love, Tha followii osmed peraons are membeesoftho Bast 8ide Lokotws
Sure00s g, (beren afte gang memben) perstog primurily In Taooms, Washingto:

Sanl Antonio Mex; | |

Bduardo Sandoval;

* Jaarod Messes

Dean Salavee;

Time Time; |

Smﬂngouedem;md

Richard Sanchez.

Each of tho individusls named above were under the communlty custody and supecvision
of the Washinglon State Department of Comrectious (DOC) on February 7, 2010, when Camille
Love was murdered and Joshua Love was assaulted. | .

OuFobma:y'l.'zom,mmmomwudr_ivingmdveudoonuwymmend's
house with her Brother Joshua Love riding in the passanger seat. The above referenced
individwals were driving in stolen white van searching for members of a rival gang to retaliate
aguinst for an carlier shooting,

Tho gang mombors chased the victin for a short tims before opening fire on the vehicle,
mlumwm,mmmmmmmmuqummmm
mumpugmmmmimmm.mmzomomammothumdumd

COMPLAINT : Vidky J, Comrle
i Attoroey st Law
Page 2of17 : 535 Dock Btreet, Sulte 209
. ‘Tacowa, WA 98402
(253) 88 Phone
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'was planning to attend college to become a veterinarian. Neither Ms. Love or ber brother Joshua
mmmbmﬁaymhmmmﬁmdm@ydﬁm&wnmemmgmdvemm

'12  Thislawsuitalso arises from tho negligent and groasly negligeat acts and omissions
i mmdwunwmmmphmwm&ﬁmmmywhm&amﬂm

Messer, MMMWMMNWWMNMMM«
high violeat offonders by the DOC well befors (b murder and esssult,

&dmmmmcmmmm«m;mmmmo
Whmmmmamxv&ichmwmm@ém.
hmofMIO,MmmdymxwmthamﬁmmddﬂMwDOCM
he v & metmber o the Surcuos gang,

Eduardo Sandoval has been under DOC supetvision since 2009. InNovunh&mm ‘

mmmdfmm.mqedmmwhnemuocmmmhmmm
tosted poaitive for marfjusns while undee DOC supervision, a violation of the tarms of his
mmrmuzoxoumhmwmmmwmmmmm.
1 Ageil 2010 o sdmittod to the DOC e was a membec of the Surenos street gang. In August of
ZWkﬁﬂdmmpdtwﬁs&ugmmmumdbyﬂimostmlm
m&mmwmwc.mmonmzmmmommwmm
custody, DOC plaood Salavea i Isolstion for poor bebayior with DOC staff membess. In
Sepmb«onOO'l DOCnotedlhtSalavuhadahim:yot‘wohhm whhvlolenee.ﬁghﬁng
and refusal to take his mental health medications. anmuwyofdeaveatoldDOChedid

: mtmifhowmrdﬂgadmddmﬂedhewmldmplymwnmofmkw.hw&

2008, Salavea falled to report to his probation offioer on two separate oocasions and failed to

COMPLAINT Vidky J. Curdla
Attorney et Law
Page 8 of 17 : . 535 Dock Strest, Suite 209
: 'neom.WA

o EREE
@
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failed to report to his probation officer and tested positive for marfjuana. In Apsil 2009, Meesser . .

mportfommnlhumxuum'meadyvebquom,smvufxﬂedmmponmhis
probation officer and fulled to report for mental bealth restment,

Tisso ‘Ttmas bas boen undor DOC supeavision sinos April of 2008. n Apel of 2008 Tiane
falled 10 report o his probation afficer, In August of 2008, Timo was arrestod for hit and rua in
ﬁmwmwwwmmmam.mwmmnmmmwmmm
w»mmmam:mofmmmorm,mwmﬂwfm

- Jarrod Messer has been under DOC supervision sinoe 2009. lnFebnnryzow.Mm

admimdmbeinglménb«oﬂhésmmwuwimdahoodngagmmdm.
mﬁedwiﬂumninamubym In May of 2009, Messer failed to report to his Probetion
Officet. |

Richard Sancher has been under DOC supervision sinc 2004, In August 2004, Seachez
was arrestod for maliclous mischle® In September of 2005, Sanchez was arestod for Asssult
ith a deadty weapon. In Septomber 2008, Sanichez. was arroated for pissession of a fiream.
Sanchez is sn Illegal immigrant and is currently wantod for bis involvemeat in the morder of
Camillo Love and f asssult and batiery of Joshas Love.

Wmﬁas;)wniknﬂﬂeduammwaﬂwSmmnndipuﬁdpdh
the murder of Camille Love and the assait and batssry of Joshua Love. Medoros Is curreatly
being sought by law eaforosment for bis involvecment i the crmes,

Given the gang mombesbigh offndercasiiations, s DOC was obigaed by
wmmsmom«mmmym(owmmnmomwumm&

COMPLAINT ' ' Vidy J. Currie
Attorney st Law
Page 4of 17 535 Dock Street, Suite 09
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and prooedures to devots all known and avalleble resources to supervising tha gang members and
protocting the publio from thelr unlawiul activities, The DOC biatantly asd egrogiously filed in
this regard, and as a result improperly sllowed the gang members to remain free for several
months peior 9 the murdes und assault. Tho DOC did virtually nothing to appreliend tho gang
racrubern montha beforo the s and sssmit, whils knowing et thes foous bas violaed
numerous conditions of their community yupervision aid that they posed a very serious risk of

" danger to the public at targe. Camille Loves death and Mr. Love’s injurics wero  dirsct and
 proximate cause of the DOC’s negligent, grossly negligent and reckiess acts and omissions when

it faled to propedty superviac.and/or monitot the gang mencbers, and when it ailed to perfiorm
mh&amwmwmmmmmumnnmmm'
February 7, 2010, .

This was not the first time that the DOC falled to supesviss a known high violent offender
mmmmm@wmmmammmmmmmc,
has exhibited s pattern of such uegligent, grossly negligent end/or reckless conduct asd/or
omissions over the past soversl years related to is obligation to monitor and superviss high risk
violent fivocis and this has caused many tnnocent citizons, including sevecal law enforcement
officers, to die or booomes seversly injured.

0. PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

21  Plaintiff William Love is at all relovant times hereinafter a resident of the State of

_Washington. Mr. Love is the pesonal representative of the Estate of Camille Love, Plaintiff
. brings this action on behatf of the Estate for the wroagful death of Camille' A. Love.

COMPLAINT | Vicky J. Currle
Attorney st Law
Page & of 17 535 Dock Street, Suite 209
. Tacoma, WA 98402

% c’(ssjasagok—wl'ax
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22 Plaintiff Jostaa Lovs s at all relovant times hereinafier a residont of the Stato of
Wasiington. o

2.3 nmsmdwmommmofccnwﬁm(bocw;w_
oty within the Stato of Washinglon (State). At al times mateial hereto fho DOC wes charged
with supervising and monitoring the convicted felons fistad in section 1.2 sbove. At al! times
materal boreto, te DOC was lable fortho scts andior osissions of it cmployses sud/or sgeats
Wmmmmmamipwmmm@uw
superior. - ' -

2.4  Defendant City of Tacoma (City) is a muncipal corporation and/ar governmental eatity
located in Piorce County Washington. At all times material heroto, the City was lisblo for the
mmd/amommwmmagm&uum.\mmmamw
MMW&MW&W&MMM&;M«
respondent superior. ‘ ' ‘

25  Thetroe names and capacitios, whether individual, corporate, assoclate, governmental or
ofberwioe, of Defondants sund ek s DOES 1, intuve, aro curely wicown o
Plaintiffs, who therefore suo sald Defendants by such ficttious names,

26  The true names and capacitios of individual Defendants sued berein s DOES 6-10,
inclusive are currontly uknow to Platntiffs, who theraforo sue seid Defendants by such
fiotitions names.

27 Plaintiffs aro infirmed and believe, and based thereon alleges, that each of the
Defondants dssigasted a2 a DOES 1-10 are logally responsible in some mannee for the eveas,
Incidents, and happeainga desoribod horoln, and orused injuries and damages to Plaifh

COMPLAINT Vidky J. Cardls
. Attorney st Law
Page 6o 17 5351)‘»:&8::‘;'?.A Hulte 209

Tecoms, WA 98402
(253) 588-9922 Phone
/ (253) 983-1545 Fax
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Plaintiffs will soek loave of courtto amend this Complaint to substiuts the true names and
WW&WWW&MHOM&MW&WM '
asoetained o I the ateruativ distniss sald DOES 1-10 if thelr ideatifios cnnot bo ascertained.
28  Plaimtiffis informed and belioves, and based thereon allges that st all rolovant times the
individual DOB Defondsats, Docs 1-10, re and have beon residents ofthe United States and the
State of Washington. _

2.9  Plaintiffraserves the right to amend this Complaint by adding additional plaintiffs and/or
claims a8 approprists agatust one or moro of these defendants, |
2.10  Pierce County is a proper vt for this action booauss the defendant is located and/or
conduots its business in Pierce County, end becaus the murder and assault occurred fn Plerco
County. ' |

3.1  Pursuantto RCW 4.92.100, Pisintiff tho Estate of Camille Love properly serveda
completed signed and valid olaim for damages on the Stats of Washington and its egency the

. DOC. More than (60) sixty days have clspsed sinoe the daie of service of the Estates Claim for

Damages and therofore the Bstate’s Claims are properly before the above-eatitled Court.

32 Pursint to RCW 4.96.020, Plsinttf tho Esteto of Cemille Love properly sorved a

completed signed and valid clam for damages on the City of Tacom. A Complaint wes seatto
DOC MMWCWoﬁTmuaDMWu; DOC acknowledged receipt of
the complala sgalust the Tacoma Police Depastment and assigned a claim mummber of
(#90070398). Subssquently a complaint was forwarded to the City of Tacoma. The DOC

COMPLAINT Vicky J. Carrle
Page 7of 17 Attoruey at Law
535 Dock Strest, Suite 209
: Twomn.WAgm
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acknowiodged roceip the complaint and stalgneda clim mumber. Maro than (60) sixty days

" have clapeed sincs the date of sesvice of the Eatate’s Claim for Damages and therefors the

Estate's Claims are properly before the above-catitied Court.

33 Pursusntto RCW 4.92.100, Plaintiff Joshua Love properly sccved s completed signed
ad valkd claim fioc damages on the St of Waskinghon and i agancy o DOC. A Complaint
wum,meCwmwiucnyomemmwmmnoc

‘acknowledged receipt of the complalnt against the Tacoma Police Department and assigned the

Claim Number of (#90070398). Subsequeritly a complaint was forwerded to the City of Tacoma.
Ths DOC acknowledged receipt the complaint and assigned a claim number. More than (60) -
sixty days have elapsed sinoo e dato of sorvioe of e Pelntif's Clim for Darnages and
therefore the Plaintiff's Claims are propery before the sbove-eatitled Court.

. 34  Pumsuant to RCW 4.96.020, Plaintiff Jostua Love property served s completed signed

mdvdldohimfmdmmmthoCﬂyoﬂmMomthm(GO}siﬂydmmdapm
sinco the date of service of the Extate's Claim for Damages and therefore the Plaintiff's Claims

IV. RELEVANT FACTS
Facts Giving Rize fo this Lawsuit,
41 On or about February 7, 2010, Canille and Johoa Love wero traveling fn a red car on
,thelrwaytoaﬁknd’llmmonPoﬁhndAveS.inTqubinﬂon. Camille was the driver

_and Joshua was the passenger. As they stopped at a traffic light several blocks from thelr

COMPLAINT ' " VickyJ. Cuxde
Attornzy st Law
Page § of 17 535 Dock Street, Suite 209
Tacoma, WA 98402
é’ (259) 588-99ea Phone

\') (253) 9831545 Fax
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MI@mLowmﬂeédawhh:evmmppe;mhlmboﬁdommuwmdced
Mammkmbmmammﬁmhmwmm:mwdw
wdnwayﬁumthombmwumtmwuﬂﬂ.ﬂwmmgmupbdnﬁcdmswmdﬁw :
occupants of the van began shooting at the Love's vehicle, .
42 Caﬂﬂobowwumﬂmdﬁmunﬂdkda&emﬂnmkdmm
mmmwmmmmﬂmmww

43 The Loves wers innooout law abiding cltizens on their way to @ frioad's bome and ware

targeted simply beowuss they wero driving 8 red oar, Mr. Love was serously injured and

trumatized by witnessing the death of his sister at the hands of violeot offeaders.
44  Saul Autonio Mex, Eduardo Sandoval, Jarrod Messer, Dean Salavea, Time Time;

Sentlago Mederos, and Richard Sanchez wiere the ocoupants of the whito van and all mombers of
Bast Side Lokotos Surenos gang. The gang members targoted the Loves because they were .

driving a red. vehiale mistakeely belloving they woro from & rival gang.

45 Eduerdo Sandoval was convioted of First Degroo Murdor, First' Degres Assault and
ConmmymOomnﬁtMudcinﬂanDaw Smdwalmmtmedtouvmty-ﬂveym
in peison for bis part in the cime.

46 ﬂmTimewmﬁmdofledhém;mimdcﬁmmdmmmdwam

"lnpds(.m. | |
47 Saul AntonloMexwaseonvlotedofmurduinﬁwﬁmdwwiﬂsaﬁmm
enhammenLMexwuwmdtoﬂlhty-ﬁvoyminpdm '

48 DunSdmwueouviMoangomniudulmemiwmsmmdmdwm
yoars in prison.

COMPLAINT Vicky J. Currie

] Attorney at Law
Page 8 of 17 ' 535 Dock Street, Sufte 209
Toaooma, WA 98402
588-9922 Phone
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49 JmMmmwMMofmmwammdww—Mmm
prison, ,
4.10 Richard Sanchez is an illegal immigrant snd is ourrently wanted for bis involvement in

dwmmda‘ofCamﬂhLovemdihoumnm&hmryoﬂomLove.

4.11 Santiago Mederos s an illogal immigrant and is cutrently wanted for his involvement in
the munder of Camille Love and tho ssssalt and battry of Josbo Love. ‘

412 At the tims of the murder and assuult, the gang members were convicted folons unde the
cotimunity custody and supervision of the Washingtn Stato Department of Cotrsctions (DOC).
The DOC’s commumity cistody and supervision secvices are performed by the Departments
Division ofCommmityCmecﬁom,m@mWynfemdloastthepumﬂ
probation and parole services. |

413 Acoonding to the DOC's own writton miaslon statoment(s) and/or-policies, the public’s
sifity is tho sbeoluts priority when the DOC is monitoring and supervising convioted oo
under its community corrections division.

414 Tho DOC's Divislon of Community Corsections exists o proteot the commity romm the
dangers posed by cciminal offenders under the Depattment's supervision a8 directed by the |
courts and the laws of the Stato of Washington. The position of Community Corrections Officer
(CCO) within this division is respousibls fr the asscasment, supervision and control of high risk
andhi'ghneedoffendmmldluinﬂmeomhmnﬂy. |

COMPLAINT Vicky J. Carrle
Attorvey at Law
ngo 10017 585 Dock Street, Sute 209
Tacoma, WA
(253) 5889522 Phions
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4.15 ThDOCmdiumplwmhwbomﬁxnvuﬂymﬂmmmmmﬁrw
wawywhhmc'-mwmmmmmmmwmmm
awﬂmmﬁadﬁwmluwmmhymdymym«hmﬂhsuﬁtymd
cause serlous and provontable injutics and death to innocent poople.

4.16 Omimpomm?xpmoﬂhoDOC’swmmhymdympuvﬁonmmMistohold
offnders acoountable t their iniposed conditions es they rosuma lifi within the communlty afier
behgimommd Tomamopublio.theDOC’soumndtyeomﬁmpoﬂcymxﬂmﬂmit
swiftly sanction thoss high risk o high violeat offenders who are non-compliant and/or who
pmumd*mummmmmimofmmmwmmn
neoessary, |

417 Atalltinie rsevial heveto, Messer, Mex, Sendoval, Salaves, Tie, Moderos end Senche
wero gang mambers with extensive prior criminal history, to inolude criminal oonvictions for

.drﬁgpomdpn,mhwhhudedlymmaﬂmudsaWosmmuom

viofations, auto theft, eluding the police, reckiess driving, obstruction, possession of a firearm,

. daneﬁcvioma.ndsﬁnam'mmm

418 Bach of the gang members bavo been under the DOC's supervision for yeers, soms
dating back to 2004. Bach of the gang members had been sentenced to-community supervision
mﬂmmmmmmmmwmmmmmmsmm
mﬂﬂplevlolaﬁmsoﬂhocondiﬁomoﬂhdrmm&ompﬁmn.

419  Bach of tho gang members have boen classified by the DOC as high risk and dangerous .
offender, ot & high violent offender, bocause of their gang ties, extensive criminal background
spaping soversl years and beoause of tho amount of barm they had caused 1o society by their

6’ (a53) Wm

(253) 983-15485 Fax
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 of agency resouroes to moaitor and supervise Measer, Mex, Sandoval, Salavea, Timo, Moderos

420 Asan high violent offonder, the DOC was legally obligated by the Washington State

previous oriminal activities. By classifying the gang members as high violent offender, the DOC
determined that they posted the greatnst lovel of risk among other suparvised felons t re-offend
in the firture. TheDOC’sownprcyroqdredthatitﬂnthhomﬁoredevowahlghqdlocdon

and Sanchez while they werg under the authority and/or control of the Department’s Community
Corrections Division,

Offendor Accountable Aot (OAA), as well as the DOC’s own policiss, rules and procedures, to
devoto the highest allocation of dgency resources to closely montor and supervise the gang
moenbers and to protect tho public from their unlswill sctivities, ‘

421 By the end of 2009, the DOC knew that o gang members had sigalfiomnt prioe istocy of
Mﬁmmmmmmvmmywmmmmwc
mmmm'»mmmmmwwmmmmg&mptym
mental heaith treatment, fling to pass drug test, changing residence without permission and by
contimuing to use iilicit drugs. ' : '

5.1 Plaintiff re-alloges all mattexs desoribed above, and incorporates the same as if alleged
in full, ' |

52 Thenmmn'owedtheplﬁnﬁﬂ%mmwmadmyofm and a duty to act

reasonably and carefully, .
COMPLAINT | Viely J. Currie .
Page 120f 17 Attomay ot Law

(a53) 983-1545 Fax
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wiﬁuupactbthemi&ﬁnguidkupuvidonofﬂngmgmmbus.

'among other things, failing to adequately monitor and superviss the gmg.mmben, failing to

53 ThoDefondants broached thei duty.of croand thei dty toactcarlly by _
negligoatly end o recklecely performing acts andlor ommissicns which ultimately csused the desth
of Camille Love and tho assault and battcy of Jostua Lave, Joshua Love suffeed serious and
permaneest injuries cansed by the Defendsnts negligence.

54  Asaremit of the Defondants negligeat, grossty negligent and/or reckless conduct and
omissions, the Plaintiffs and/or the decedent wore injured, suffered, and codtinue 1o suffer,
physioal disblty and pain, emotional tumms, medical expenes, oss o oanlngs snd exrning
capacity, Joss of consortium and ofher damages. ‘ o

6.1 Plaintiff re-alicges all matters described above, and incorporates tho sams as if alleged
in full,

62  Defendant Stats of Washington by and ihrough its Departmest of Corrections owed tho
Pleiif®s and tho decodent a duty to sct reascaably and carcfully. ' |

63 - The doftndast breashed ts duty of care and itsdaty to sot cerefilly and reasommbly by,
among other things, falling to comply with the OAA end its own rules, poficies 104 procedures

64  Thedefendant breached ts duty of care and its duty to act carefully and reasonsble by,

timely request a Secretary Warrant for the gang members immediato apprehension and arrest,

COMPLAINT . Vicky J, Currie
Page 13of 17 . _ mmmm:%m

‘Twcoms, WA 98402
Yhone

N ( (2s3) 588-9902
}‘ (253) 983-1545 Fax
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andfallingtouseallknownmdaﬁﬂablemomatolouta.searchforandapprchmdthegmg
members after warrants had been issued for their arrest. |

6.5  Asaresultofthis Defondant’s negligent, grossly negligent an/or reckless conduot.
Plaintiffs and decedeat were Injured, suffored, and coritinue to sufter, physical disabllity and

" pain, emotional trauma, madical expenses, loss of-'eaming,s and eaming capacity, loss of

7.0 Piakmifh ro-allogos all matters peoviously descibed and they are incorporated by
refecence. |

72 Tho defendants negligent, grosaly negligent andior reckloss sots and/or omissions caused
tho wroagfil death of Camille A. Love. |

73 Mammﬁmmwwmﬁmmmﬂa
tortuous conduct, the Bstate of Camille A. Love, has suffersd damages inchuding the loss of the
socumulation of income and inourred medical, funeel, and biial expenses, ad the consclous

paia, suicing, amxiety and fear of impending: dosth experienced by the decedent, In such

ot 5wl o peoven a tral together with terest thercon st the statocy ate from the date
of death or thie date the expenses were incurred. '

14 A  proximate canse of the defendanis negligent, grosaly negligent, reckless and/or
mm’mm'smm:mdmmmmnmlm
of consortium, destruotion of the parent-child relationship and the loss of love, care, affection,

" COMPLAINT C Vieky J, Carrle
Page s4of 17 ‘ Attorney at Law
535 Dock Streat, Suite 209
Tacoma, WA 98402
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* amounts will be proven at the time of trial,

8.  Plaintiffs re-alleges all matters proviously described and they arc incorparated by

82  Defbodant Stato of Waskingloa by and through its Depertmeat of Corestions, Defendant
City of Tacoma and Docs 1-10, have negligently and grossly negligsatly failed to propey bire,
mm«w{um}mwahmmmmmmm

83 Mammmofmmm'mmmmwmmm
employees and/or agents, the Plaintiffs and the decodent wero injured, suffered, and contintie to
W,Wwwmmmwm’mmmmam@
capacity, loss of consortium and ather damages.

9.1 Pisiutiffs re-alloges all matters proviously described and thoy aro incorporated by
refecence. | ,

92  Defondant State of Washington by snd through its Department of Comeotions has
exhibited & pattern over the provious ten to fifteen years of falling to properly ronitor and/or

COMPLAINT : , . Vicky J. Carsle.
Page 150f 17 Attomey at Law
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" estate’s benoficlaries have suffred, and will costinue to suffer, extremo and sovers emotional

W B N O A L W

- 104 As a rosult of&h Defendant’s negligent, grosaly negligent and/or reckless oconduct,

supervise its convicted felons, and as a result, they have killed and/or harmed nutmerous innocent
citizens in Washinglon State,including plaintifs |

93  This defendant’s fallure to supervise the gang members and fts reposted faihure to
mﬁnmoﬂmm%d@bmmhymh-mdyw&nww
94 Ma@tofﬁnwmdmnammmmmmmmm

Y mwmmmwmwmwem

10.2 Defendant City of Tacoma, by and through its Pofice Department and/or law enforcement
officers owed the Plaiotiffs the daty of care and s duty to ast réasonsbly and carefilly.

103 Defondant City of Tacoma violated its duty of oare and lfs duty to act reasonably sod
wmﬂybyﬁiﬂﬁgwmhnwnmmbuwbpoudauﬂomwmﬂmpuwa

Plaintiffs were injured, suffered, and continue to suffer, physical dissbility and pain, emotionel
trauma, medical expenses and loss of earning capacity.

COMPLAINT ' Vicky J. Curdde
Page 16 of 17 . Altorney at Law
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XL PRAYER FOR RELIEF,

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for julgment sgaivst the Defendauts, joloty sd
wve.mlly,a?foﬂmf .
1L1  For all damages sstained by Plaintiffs in an amount proven at tria, including past and
future medical axpenscs and ofber bealth caro sxponses, pain and suffoing, both mental nd
MMMMMWWMMMIwof@md |
i, damages o property, pest aad futu speoial and economio dsmagss, 10 of income and
oamlngeap:city losofoomocﬁmn.da&mﬂonofhopmnt—dﬂldmhﬂomﬁpmdoﬂu )
damages; _'
112 Intecest caloulated st the maxknum smount allowsble by Iaw, including pre and post-
judgmeat interest;
11.3 ° A reasonable attomey’s feo as allowed by law;
114 Costs and disbursemments pursant t statet; and.
115 Other and forther reliof as this Court may deem just and equitable.

DATED this 40 day of Rebruaty, 2013,

COMPLAINT A miy:.m
Page 17 of 17 . 595 Dok freet, Buts 209
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E-FILED

IN COUNTY CLERICS OFFICE v

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON

April 09 2013 1:34 PM

KEVIN STOCK
COUNTY
NO: 13-2-08154-1
. The Honorable Garold E. Jobnson
STATE OF WASHINGTON
PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
WILLIAM LOVE, as Personal NO. 13-2-06154-1
Representative of the ESTATE OF
CAMILLE LOVE and JOSHUA DEFENDANT STATE OF
LOVE, individually, WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO
Plaintiffs, PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT FOR'
DAMAGES
, v.
STATE OF WASHINGTON
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,
a governmental entity, CITY OF
TACOMA, a municipal corporation and
DOES 1-10 INCLUSIVE,
Defendants.

Defendant State of Washington Department of Corrections, in answer to Plaintiffs’
complaint, admits, denies, and alleges-as follows:
- I.  INTRODUCTION

1.1 Defendant admits Plaintiff Camille Love was killed and Joshua Love was shot on

February 7,. 2010. Defendant algo admits Eduardo Sandoval and Dean Salavea were on
supervision. Defendant has insufficient information to admit or deny all other remaining
allegations contained in paragraph 1.1.

12  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 1.2.

DEFENDANT STATE OF 1

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF > ""”"%‘5.‘.%;:‘33'1 Su 105
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO & e
PLAINTIFES’ COMPLAINT FOR > (253) $93-5243
DAMAGES

OQFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
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I.  PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

2.1 Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 2.1.
22  Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 2.2.
23  Defendant edmits Department of Corrections is a governmental agency. The remainder
of the paragraph calls for a legal conclusion and no response is tequmed To the extent a
response is required, the remaining allegations in paragmph 2.3 are denied.
24  No response is required. | .
2.5  Paragraph 2.5 fails to identify al;y persons by name so no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, defendant denies the Qllegations contained in paragraph 2.5. |
2.6  Paragraph 2.6 fails to identify any persons by name so no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 2.6.
2.7  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 2.7. '
28  Defendant is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a beliefas to the
truth of the allegations contained invparagxaph 2.8 and, thcrefor'e, denies the same.
29  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 2.9.
2.10 Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 2.10.

IO.  SERVICE OF CLAIM FOR DAMAGES
31 Defendant admits plaintiffs filed a claim. As to the remaining allegations contained in
paragraph 3.1, they require a legal conclusion and therefore, denies the same.
3.2  Defendant is without knowledge or ﬁfmﬁon sufficient to form a belief as to the
truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 3.2 and, therefore, denies the same.
33  Defendants admit sixty (60) days have elapsed and plaintiffs served a claim. The
remainder of the paragraph calls for a legal conclusion and no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, defendants deny the remaining' allegations contained in paragraph
3.3.

DEFENDANT STATE OF 2 OFFKCE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF ? 1250 P“;}f& mg"‘“ 108
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO 2:6 Tacoma, WA 98401
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR (253) 593-5243
DAMAGES
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! 34 Defendant is wi}hout knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the
2 truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 3.4 and, therefore, denies the same.
3 ) IV. | REVELANT FACTS
4 4.1  Defendant admits on f-‘cbmary 7, 2010, Camille and Joshua Love were shot at.
5 Defendant is without knowledge or information sufficieat to form a belief as to the truth of the
8 | cemsining allegations contained in paragraph 4.1 and, therefors, decies the same.
7 42  Defendant admits Camille Love died and Joshua Love was shot. Defendant is without
8 knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the remaining allegations
| contained in paragraph 4.2 and, thercfore, denies the same,
10 43  Defendant is without knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the
My truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 4.3 and, therefore, denies the same.
1211 44 Defendant is without knowledge or information sufficieutto form a belicf 83 to the
13 1 truth of the allcgations contained in paragraph 4.4 and, therefore, denies the seme.
14145  Defendant admits the allegations contsined in paragraph 4.5.
13 46  Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 4.6.
16147  Defondant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 4.7.
1 48 Defendmt admits the allegations contained in paragraph 4.8.
18149  Defendaot admits the allegations contained in paragraph 4.9.
194 4.10 - Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 4.10.
20§ 411 Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 4.11.
211412 Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 4.12.
22 4.1 This paragraph does not require a response because the Department’s Mission Statement
23 | and policies speak for themselves. - |
24| 414 Defendant denies the allegations contained in peragraph 4.14.
25 1415 Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 4.15.
26 .
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR 12 (253) 593-5243
DAMAGES u
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4.16 Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 4.16.
417 Defendants admit Saul Mex, Eduardo Sandoval, Dean Salavea, Time Time, Jarrod
Messer; Richard Sanchez, and Santiago Mederos had criminal histories. '
418 DOC admits Messer, Saul Mex, Edvardo Sandoval, Dean Salavea, Time Time, Jarrod
Messer, Richard Sanchez, and Santiago Mederos had at one time or another been supervised by
the department. ‘ '
4.19 Defendant denies the allegations contained in Mh 4.19.
4.20 - Defendant denies the allegations-contained in paragraph4.20.
421 Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 4.21.

V. CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS — NEGLIGENCE
5.1  Defendant reasserts its responses to the preceding paragraphs and deny the allegations
contained in Mh 5.1 '
52 Paraéraph 5.2 calls for a legal conclusion and no response is required. To the extent a
respbnse is required, defehdants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 5.2.
53  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 5.3.
54  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 5.4.

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANT STATE OF WASHINGTON
6.1  Defendant reasserts its responses to the preceding paragraphs and deny the allegations
contained in paragraph 6.1.

6.2  Paragraph 62 calls for a legal conclusion and no rosponse is required. To the extenta
response is required, defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 6.2.

6.3  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 6.3.

64  Defendant denics the allegations contained in paragraph 6.4.

6.5  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 6.5.

DEFENDANT STATE OF . 4 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF 1250 "'gf‘&mgwm
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO ? Tocoms, WA 98401
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR S (253) 5935243
DAMAGES .)\
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VII. CAUSE OF ACTION - WRONGFUL DEATH .
7.1  Defendant reasserts its responses to the preceding paragraphs and deny the allegations
contained in paragraph 7.1.
7.2 Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 7.2.
73  Defendant denes the allegations contained in paragraph 7.3.
7.4  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 7.4.
VIO. CAUSE OF ACTION - NEGLIGENT HIRING AND SUPERVISION

8.1  Defendant reasserts its responses to the preceding paragraphs and deny the allegations
contamed in paragraph 8.1. | ' -
8.2  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 8.2.
8.3  Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 8.3.

, IX. CAUSE OF ACTION-TORT OF OUTRAGE '
9.1, Defendant reasserts its responses to the preceding paragraphs and deny the allegations
contained in paragraph 9.1.
92 - Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 9.2.
93  Defendant denios the allegations contained in paragraph 93
.9.4 Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 9.4.

X.  CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE CITY OF TACOMA

10.1 Defendant reasserts its responses to the preceding paragraphs and deny the allegations
oontainedigpmagx'aph 10.1. '
102 Paragraph 10.2 is not addressed to the State, therefore, Defendant is without knowledge
or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in
paragraph 10.2 and, therefore, denies the same. | ‘
10.3  Paragraph 10.3 is not addressed to the State, therefore, Defendant is without knowledge
or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in

paragraph 10.3 and, therefore, denies the same.

DEFENDANT STATE OF 5 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF 1250 "gf‘&mfmws
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO 9 © Tacoma, WA 98401
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR 5 (253) 593-5243
DAMAGES ,
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104 Paragraph 104 is not addressed to the State, therefore, Defendant is without knowledge
or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in
paragraph 10.4 and, therefore, denies the same.

XI. PRAYERFOR RELIEF

Defendant denies Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment against them and further denies that
Plaintiffs are entitled to the relief sought in subparagraphs 11.1 - 11.5 on page 17 of Plaintiffs’
complaint. ' o

XII. AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, Defendant
alleges that the summons and complaint was the process served was insuﬁcient.

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER ard SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE,
Defendant alleges '

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, Deféndant

alleges that the plaintiffs have failed to file a claim against the State of Washington as required
by RCW 4.92.100 and .110. ‘

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE,
Defendant alleges that the damages and/or injuries, if any, were caused by the fault of a
nonparty for purposes of KCW 4.22.070(1). The identity of the nonparty is: Saul Mex,
Eduardo Sandoval, Dean Salavea, Time Time, Jarrod Messer, Richard Sanchez, and Santiago
Mederos.

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, Defendant
alleges that the plaintiffs’ injuries/damages, if any, were caused by intentional conduct of Saul
Mex, Eduardo Sandoval, Dean Salavea, Time Time, Jatrod Messer, Richard Sanchez, and

DEFENDANT STATE OF 6 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF 150 P v 10
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO Yy Tacoma, WA 98401
PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT FOR Jg, (253) 5935243

DAMAGES
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Santiago Mederos. The damages caused by the intentional conduct must be segregated from
injuries/damages allegedly caused by fault.

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, Defendant
alleges that all actions of the defendang State of Washington, herein alleged as negligence,
manifest a reasonable exercise of judgment and discretion by authorized pﬁblic officials made
in the exercise of governmental authority entrusted to them by law and are neither tortious nor
actionable. .

By Wa)} of FURTHER ANSWER and SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE,
Defendant alleges that the plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which rélief may be
granted. "

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE,
Defendant alleges that the defendant at all times acted in good faith in the performance of its
duties and is therefore immune from suit for the matters charged in plaintiffs’ complaint.

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, Defendant
alleges that the defendant is immune from suit for the matters charged in plaintifft;’ complaint.

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, Defendant
alleges that the claims agamst the defendant are barred by the doctnne(s) of absolute (quasi-
judicial and or quasx-prosecutonal) immunity.

By Way of FURTHER ANSWER and ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE,
Defendant alleges that the claims alleged under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against the state employees are
barred by the doctrine of qualified immunity.

"

i

/

/4

DEFENDANT STATE OF 7 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF *”‘"’-;'g_ g;:';;lfm 105
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO - Tacoma, WA 98401
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR 7 (253) $93-5243
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WHEREFORE, Defendant prays that Plaintiffs complaint be dismissed with prejudice
as to the State of Washington Department of Corrections and that Plaintiffs take nothing by
their complaint and that Defendant be allowed their costs and reasonablo attomey fees herein,

DATED this Y day of Apxil, 2013.

ROBERT W. FERGUSON

Attorney General

GARTH AHEARN, WSBA No. 29840

Assistant Attomey General

Attorney for State
DEFENDANT STATE OF 3 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF ) 1250 Buctlle Mty e 1%
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO Q WA 98401
PLAINTIFFS' COMFLAINT FOR 96 (253) 393-543
DAMAGES
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PROOF OF SERVICE

DEFENDANT STATE OF
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF
CORRECTIONS ANSWER TO
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT FOR
DAMAGES

9

5

lomifyttmtlservedﬁcopyofthisdocumentonallpmtiuorﬂwircounselofmcord
on the date below as follows: '
Vicky J. Currie X US Mail Postage Prepaid 0 UPS NextDsy Air
Attorney at Law , Mail :
535 Dock Stoet, STE209 0 Cextified Mail Postage Prepaid o ByPax.
Tacoma, WA 98402 o State Campus Mail o ByEmail
o ABC/Legal Messenger- o Hand delivered by:
Jean P. Homan X US Mail Postage o UPS NextDay Air
of Tacoma .
gg m o Cetified Muil Postage Prepaid o ByPax .
Tacoma, WA 98402-3701 0 - State Campus Mail o By Email
0 ABC/Legal Messenger o . Hand delivered by-
I cextify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of Washington that the
foregoing i true and correct. '
DATED this %day of April, 2013, at Tacoma, WA.
@.ELLIO’I‘I‘, Legal Assistant

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
1250 Pacific Avenus, Suite 105

P.0.Box 2317
Tacoma, WA 98401
(253) 593-5243
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OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

From: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

Sent: Thursday, June 23, 2016 12:11 PM

To: 'Tiffany Dixon'

Cc: Paul Lindenmuth; Ben Barcus; currievj@hotmail.com
Subject: RE: Supreme Court No. 93229-8

Received 6/23/2016.

The filing fee for $200.00 was received on 6/15/2016.

Supreme Court Clerk’s Office

Please note that any pleading filed as an attachment to e-mail will be treated as the original. Therefore, if a filing is by e-
mail attachment, it is not necessary to mail to the court the original of the document.

Questions about the Supreme Court Clerk’s Office? Check out our website:
http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial courts/supreme/clerks/

Looking for the Rules of Appellate Procedure? Here’s a link to them:
http://www.courts.wa.gov/court rules/?fa=court rules.list&group=app&set=RAP

Searching for information about a case? Case search options can be found here:
http://dw.courts.wa.gov/

From: Tiffany Dixon [mailto:Tiffany@benbarcus.com]

Sent: Thursday, June 23, 2016 11:47 AM

To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK <SUPREME@COURTS.WA.GOV>

Cc: Paul Lindenmuth <Paul@benbarcus.com>; Ben Barcus <ben@benbarcus.com>; currievi@hotmail.com
Subject: Supreme Court No. 93229-8

Dear Clerk,

In accordance with your letter of June 13, 2016, attached for filing please find Petitioners’ Amended Petition for Review
with Appendices. The $200.00 filing fee was mailed separately on June 10, 2016. Could you please confirm receipt of
the filing fee.

Thank you.

Tiffany Dixon

Paralegal

Law Offices of Ben F. Barcus and Associates, PLLC
4303 Ruston Way

Tacoma, WA 98402

(253) 752-4444

tiffany@benbarcus.com

This email is confidential. If you receive this email in error, please delete immediately. This email is not provided for any
tax purposes.
1



